# **Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1979

# State of Utah v. Charles F. Conrad: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

# STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the defendant, Charles F. Conrad, from a jury verdict finding appellant guilty of the crime of robbery, and from the trial court's refusal to grant to the appellant a new trial.

# DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The defendant was charged by an information with the crime of robbery, and was tried by a jury and convicted of the

crime, as charged. Prior to the trial, defendant made a motion for continuance, in order to allow him to subpoena an essential witness whom he was unable to locate prior to the trial, even though attempts to locate the witness had been made. This motion was denied. After the trial, the witness, who was at that time in police custody, was available to testify, and based thereon, the defendant made a motion for a new trial. The trial court denied defendant's motion, but by its minute entry agreed to reconsider the motion for a new trial, upon presentation of testimony of the claimed witness. The testimony of the witness was thereafter reduced to an affidavit, and filed with a motion for a new trial, which motion was argued to the court and denied by the court.

# RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the court's rulings set aside, and to have the matter remanded to the District Court for a new trial.

# STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 15th day of April 1977, one Kim Reed was employed by a By-Rite Gas Station, located on the corner of 28th Street and

Monroe Street in Ogden, Utah. He was employed as an attendant at such station, and as such operated the same, serving customers and collecting money for products purchased. At approximately 7:45 p.m., on April 15th, while two customers were at the gas pumps serving themselves, the witness Reed testified that a gentleman came toward him, entered the building, and told him to open up his till, stating, "I want the money, open the till." The witness Reed further testified that the gentleman had a gun, so Reed opened the till. After removing the money from the cash till, the same gentleman walked backwards out of the building, told the attendant Reed to walk to the car wash bays on the premises, and departed the area on foot. During the entire episode, at least two other customers were in the immediate vicinity, servicing their automobiles, neither of whom was identified, nor did either of them appear as a witness for the State.

After the alleged incident, the witness Kim Reed telephoned the police, claimed the robbery, and continued to wait on customers. Upon investigation by the police, the witness was shown eighty-four photographs, and from the photographs shown,

the witness identified the defendant, Charles F. Conrad, as the person committing the robbery.

The defendant testified in his defense, and by his testimony stated that he and LeRoy Gutierrez, the witness unavailable for trial had agreed to burglarize the building, and that in order to accomplish this, the defendant was to divert the attention of the attendant and have him leave the building, at which time LeRoy Gutierrez was to remove money from the cash till of the business. In furtherance of this, the defendant Conrad drove an automobile into the car wash bay of the By-Rite Gas Station, cut the hose of the car wash with a knife, and then contacted the attendant, Kim Reed, advising him that the car wash did not work properly, and requesting that he come and examine it; that the attendant, Kim Reed, went to the car wash bay, observed that the car wash hose was not working properly and, with the assistance of Mr. Conrad, closed off the car wash bay. During this period of time, LeRoy Gutierrez entered the building, removed some money from the cash till of the business, and left the building. Thereafter, the defendant left the premises, drove a few blocks, where he picked up LeRoy Gutierrez, and departed the area. The testimony of LeRoy Gutierrez, as shown by his affidavit, corroborates the testimony of the appellant.

4

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT A NEW TRIAL.

On June 2, 1977, prior to the commencement of trial of the defendant, defendant's attorney filed his affidavit with the court (R-17), requesting a continuance in order to allow him to locate an essential witness, one LeRoy Gutierrez, which motion was denied by the court (R-21).

On August 12, 1977, defendant's attorney filed an affidavit and motion for a new trial, based upon the fact that the missing witness, LeRoy Gutierrez, had been arrested and was incarcerated in the Weber County Jail, and therefore was available for testimony, which was sufficient basis for a new trial, since he could not be located by diligent effort prior to the time of trial. This motion was filed after defendant's trial had been concluded on July 18, 1977. On September 26, 1977, the court heard the defendant's motion and denied the same, with the provision that if the claimed witness would appear and present his testimony, the court would reconsider the motion for a new trial (R-81).

An appeal was filed with this court, and while pending, the matter, upon motion of the defendant, was remitted to the trial

court for reconsideration of defendant's motion to dismiss, based upon the affidavit of LeRoy Gutierrez, which affidavit set forth in narrative the testimony of the said LeRoy Gutierrez. The matter was remanded to the district court for consideration of defendant's motion for a new trial, and defendant filed a motion for a new trial, based upon the previous determination of the court, and upon the affidavit of LeRoy Gutierrez. The motion was heard by the court on the 22nd day of May 1978, at which time the court denied the motion, stating as follows (R-478):

THE COURT: "Insofar as the motion is concerned, considering the testimony that was given from the defense is inconsistent totally with the testimony now given, that it could not intelligently have presented both this testimony and the defense which he did present, which was defeated. In the total of the situation, I do not think this witness would have made a difference. For that reason, I will deny the motion for a new trial."

In the foregoing reasoning, the court has erred by reason of the fact that the testimony of LeRoy Gutierrez is completely supportive of the appellant's testimony given in his defense at the time of the trial. While the Gutierrez affidavit is, for some unknown reason, not included in the transcript and record herein, it is on file in appellant's previous file before the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, in Case No. 15374, and a copy thereof is attached hereto as

- "Exhibit A". Paragraph 3 of the affidavit of LeRoy Gutierrez states,
  - That on or about the 15th day of April 1977. your affiant and Charles F. Conrad drove to the By-Rite Station at 809 - 28th Street, Ogden, Utah. That prior to reaching the station, Charles F. Conrad, who was driving the automobile being used by us, let me out of the automobile and then drove to the car wash bays on the By-Rite Station. When Charles F. Conrad arrived at the car wash bay, he cut the hose of the car wash with a knife, and then proceeded to speak with the attendant, whereupon the attendant went with Charles F. Conrad to examine the car wash bay, where Charles F. Conrad had stopped his car. While the attendant was at the car wash bay with the said Charles F. Conrad, your affiant entered the building of the By-Rite station and took some money from a cash box located in the building. I immediately left the building of the By-Rite Station and observed Charles F. Conrad and the station attendant at the car wash bay. I then proceeded to the corner of Quincy Street and 28th Street in Ogden, Utah. Within a very short time, Charles F. Conrad drove to where I was standing, and I entered the automobile and we left the scene. "

At the time of trial, the defendant testified as follows

# (R-63/64):

as follows:

- "A. And LeRoy was down on 28th, and he told me that when I distracted that guy that he would see him come from the office and that at that time he told me to keep the guy there, that he would go in and he said that he could get some money.
  - Q. Did he tell you how he was going to do that?
- A. He told me before that he had been in the gas station before and had seen money bags underneath the

drawer, at the bottom of the drawer.

- Q. He said he had been there on prior occasions?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did he indicate to you that that was his intention?
- A. Yes, that was our intention was getting some money bags.
  - Q. Did he have a gun?
  - A. No, he didn't.
  - Q. Did you?
  - A. No, I didn't.
  - Q. Was there a gun in the car?
  - A. No, sir. "

Further, the defendant testified (R-366):

- "A. I got the knife and then I just held the hose in my hand, and I just slashed it. So I bent it back to make sure it was slashed, and I put the knife back in the car. I put 50 cents in the car wash.
  - Q. Is that what it took to run the car wash?
- A. Yes. I put the 50 cents in the car wash and held the hose and turned it on, and it worked just how I had it planned, intended it to do so."
  - Q. Did the machine come on?
  - A. Yes, it did.

- Q. Start spraying from where it had been severed?
- A. Yes, it was spraying on me, so I shut it off.
- Q. How did you shut if off?
- A. Just with the button.
- Q. There is a switch there, is there not?
- A. Yes, there was.
- Q. Is it a wash and rinse switch?
- A. Yes, I put it on off.
- Q. Okay. And then what did you do with the nozzle?
- A. I stuck it back in there. There was like a pipe that I stuck it back in.
- Q. Okay. After that, did you walk up in the front to see Mr. Reed?
  - A. Yes, I did.
  - Q. Where was he when you approached him?

# (R - 367):

- "Q. Okay. Now, in fact, how did you approach him? Did you walk out of the west end of the washing bay towards Monroe, or go around the back?
  - A. To the back.

- Q. To the back around?
- A. Right.
- Q. Then you walked over and he was at the pump nearest the office?
  - A. Yes, he was.
- $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Q}}.$  What, if anything, did you say to him at that time?
- A. He was waiting on a customer, giving him his change back. I mean a customer was paying him.
  - Q. Okay.
- A. He gave him back his change and then at that time I told him, I said that the car wash hose wasn't working. And he went back and examined it.
- Q. Prior to that time, Freddy, were there other cars there getting gas?
  - A. I think there was one at the front end.
- Q. Okay. And then you indicated the problem with the hose to him?
  - A. Yes, I did.
  - Q. What did he do then?
  - A. He walked back there with me.
  - Q. Did he say anything?
  - A. No, he didn't talk going back there.

- Q. Okay. And how did you get back there? Did you go through the back lot around through towards Monroe?
  - A. Yes, we went through to the back.
  - Q. Around the back of the parking lot?

#### (R-368):

- A. Right.
- Q. What did you do when you walked into that bay?
- A. He walked in and then he grabbed the hose, and I turned it back on, and it was spraying, and he sort of jumped back. He said, yeah, it's not working, and then he looked at it and he said that I should just shut it off and put it back, and then he gave me my 50 cents back.
  - Q. Okay. What did he say after that, if anything?
- A. Well, he didn't say nothing. I was more or less trying to stall him there.
- Q. All right. You actually had an idea as to what LeRoy was going to be doing?
- A. Right. At that time, LeRoy was getting--I had Mr. Reed's attention back in the car wash, the south car wash
- Q. You fully understood that your friend was going to commit a theft?
  - A. Right.
  - Q. And you of course participated in that?

- A. Yes, I was.
- Q. And you were aware, of course, that participation is a crime?
  - A. Yes, sir.
  - Q. A theft?
  - A. Yes.
- Q. Now, after Mr. Reed inspected that and put it back did he give you any money.
  - A. Yes, he gave me 50 cents back.
- Q. All right. And what did he do after he gave you the 50 cents?
  - A. Well, I told him, I said, I said, "Why don't you grab

# (R-369):

one of those barrels, just in case somebody else--the machine is not working," and that and I told him to stick a barrel in front and at that time I was stalling him so he wouldn't go back to see LeRoy inside there taking the money.

- Q. Did he move a barrel out in front of the bay?
- A. Yes, he did. "

Thus, from the testimony of the defendant, and the testimony that would have come from the witness, LeRoy Gutierrez, the determination by the court in denying a new trial does not appear

unreasonable, and seems to evade the trial court's apparent concern when he stated that he would consider a motion for new trial, when he knew what the testimony of Gutierrez would be.

A motion for new trial, when newly discovered evidence is claimed, requires the support of three essentials, as follows:

1) the evidence must have been discovered or obtained after the trial

2) it must be material to the factual issues at trial, and 3) it must be of such a nature that it would probably produce a different verdict in the event of retrial. See <u>U.S. v. Harris</u> (1976); 534 F. 2d 1371, and People v. Loplasto (Mich. 1967); 156 NW 2. d 586.

It appears that all three essentials are present in the case before the court. The evidence was discovered and available only after trial, it was material to the factual issues, and it would probably produce a different verdict, since it would believably indicate that no robbery was committed by appellant. Therefore, it can only be concluded that the trial court's failure to grant a new trial, when confronted with the evidence that the court was personally concerned about, was indeed an abuse of discretion, and justifies the granting of a new trial by this court.

#### POINT II

DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION, BASED UPON UNCORROBORATED TESTIMONY OF VICTIM, SHOULD BE REVERSED.

It is recognized that generally the common-law acknow-ledges that a conviction may be upheld when based upon the uncorroborated testimony of a victim, unless such testimony is completely unbelievable. See State v. Middelstadt, 1978 Utah, 579 P. 2d 908. Appellant submits that the testimony of the alleged victim, which was completely uncorroborated, falls into the category of the "completely unbelievable." This is evidenced from the following testimony of the victim (R-89 - Line 5):

- "Q. Okay. Kim, what happened about 7:45 that evening?
- A. There was two customers on the outside pumps, and I noticed a gentleman coming towards me, and he entered the building, and he said, 'Open the money, or open the till.' I looked over, and he had a gun, so I opened the till.

#### (R-94 - Lines 2 and 17):

- "Q. All right. This individual took the money then out of the cash register. What happened next?
  - A. He told me to walk over to the car wash.
  - Q. Do you recall where the defendant went at that time?

- A. He started east on 28th.
- Q. East on 28th Street.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{MR}}\xspace$  , JONES: Your Honor, do we have any markers that we might use?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. JONES: Kim, would you step over here to the blackboard to this diagram 1-P, and I will give you a red marker. Would you indicate for me where the defendant went and how far along 28th Street you saw him? Maybe you can use that red line to show us as he came out of the station.

A. He went from the office, and the last time I saw him he ran to this corner and up that way.

# (R-95 - Line 21 to R-96 - Line 9):

- Q. Just stay out there, Kim, if you would. Let me give you--try a green marker. You show me where you went after he exited the building.
- A. Okay. I came out of the office and walked back behind the car wash.
- $\ensuremath{\mathbb{Q}}.$  How far did you get? Is that pretty much where you went?
  - A. Probably that is pretty close there.
- Q. Okay. Kim, when you got over there by the car wash, what did you see?
  - A. I saw a little Toyota or Datsun parked in the end bay.

- Q. Okay. Which direction was that car pointed?
- A. It was facing east.
- Q. So it would have been facing you?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. All right. Did you see anyone inside?
- A. There was a person inside of it.
- Q. Do you know what he looked like?
- A. It was dark inside the car. It looked like he had a beard.

#### (R-109 - Line 14):

- Q. And you saw the car pull out and drive down the street. We will get back to that in a minute. After you saw that everybody was gone, what was the first thing you did?
  - A. Walked back and one of the customers --
  - Q. Walked back?
  - A. Well, I walked. I can't run.
  - Q. Okay.
- A. I walked back to the office and one of the customers come up, and I started calling the police. And he was a little upset because I wouldn't wait on him until after I had called the police.
  - Q. Okay.

- A. And I called them, and they come up.
- $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Q}}_*$  . Did you talk to the customer first or call the police first?
- $\boldsymbol{A}. \quad \boldsymbol{I} \text{ told him that } \boldsymbol{I} \text{ had to call the police first, and } \boldsymbol{I} \text{ would wait on him after.}$

#### (R-110 - Line 25):

- $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Q}}.$  What did you do immediately after you called the police?
- A. I waited on the customers and they left. I waited for them to come up.

### (R-111 - Line 1):

- Q. It sure isn't. You didn't scream, raise a general ruckus, anything of that nature?
  - A. No.
- Q. Just simply called the police and then continued to wait on the customers?

# (R-134 - Line 8):

- Q. But you are telling me he backed out of the building and I suppose right into plain view of the group of customers. Did he still have that gun trained on you in plain sight?
  - A. Yeah.
  - Q. Whereupon, he told you to walk to the south?
  - A. Correct. Behind the car wash.

- Q. And you began to do that?
- A. Right.
- Q. Now, you also tell us that you saw him run east up 28th Street. Did you turn --
- A. When I was walking out right before--well, during my turn to walk over to the car wash, I watched him go out and I can remember him turning the corner and heading up 28th."

#### (R-137 - Line 24):

- "Q. Okay. And during this time, one of the people came over and they were upset that you weren't waiting on them, is that correct?
- A. One person was a little upset because I wouldn't wait on him.
- Q. You calmly remarked, "I have got to call the source. I have just been robbed."

# (R-142 - Line 12):

Q. You came back, found the cash box was open, and so you called the police and reported it, told them that the person that had taken it had a gun?

#### A. Right."

Based upon the foregoing testimony, it would seem that the alleged victim, Kim Reed, would have the jury and court believe that he was robbed in the presence of at least two customers, but that he did not request their assistance when he could have done so,

did not obtain their names to corroborate his claim, or to help in the identity of the culprit. This testimony, when fully considered, is completely unbelievable. It is unbelievable that a robbery could take place as described by the witness, Reed Kim, without one of the customers observing such activity, particularly where the robber was supposed to have backed out of the door of the business, gun in hand, and walked away unnoticed. It is equally unbelievable that after a robbery, as alleged, that the victim would wait on customers without requesting their assistance or aid, or their identity to aid the police.

Without corroboration, the testimony of Kim Reed is within the quality of testimony referred to by this court in State v. Middelstadt, supra, where the court stated:

"As to the quality of the testimony given, it is settled that it must be so improbable that it is completely unbelievable before it is insufficient to uphold a conviction."

The only believable portion of Reed's testimony is that portion found on page 142 of the record, wherein he stated that he returned, found the cash box open, and called the police. The claim of robbery is, under the testimony given, unbelievable.

#### CONCLUSION

From the transcript and entries in the file of this matter, it appears that there was some concern by the trial judge over the fact that the witness, Gutierrez, was not available at the time of trial. A review of the affidavit of Gutierrez would support that concern, since his testimony strikes at the very elements of the alleged robbery. Thus, it seems that the refusal of the court to grant a new trial is an effective denial of the appellant's right to present a full defense. The missing testimony was not only supportive of appellant's defense, but was essential to it. The trial court's abuse of his power and discretion warrants this court's remanding this matter for a new trial.

It further appears from the record that the evidence upon which the appellant was convicted was of such a nature as to be totally unbelievable, and that the matter should therefore be remanded for a new trial.