1979

State of Utah v. Charles F. Conrad : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL INASMUCH AS APPELLANT'S "NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE" WAS MERELY CUMULATIVE, WOULD NOT HAVE CHANGED THE RESULT AT TRIAL, AND THERE IS NO SHOWING OF ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

About six weeks before trial, appellant filed an affidavit with the trial court asking for a continuance of trial because LeRoy Guiterrez was not available to testify (R. 15-17). In fact, Guiterrez was a fugitive from the law enforcement officers and was avoiding the police (R. 16).

The motion for continuance was denied (R. 21) with Judge Wahlquist reserving judgment as to the importance of any witnesses not called to be determined at trial.

On August 12, 1977, appellant filed an affidavit with the court asking for a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence declaring that Guterrez was then available to testify. The court denied the motion on September 27, 1977, but offered to reconsider the motion "if the claimed witness appears in court and presents his testimony for the record." (R. 81). Appellant then appealed this denial of a new trial to this court, and, upon motion of appellant, the matter was remitted to the trial court. (See State v. Conrad, Remittance, No. 15374, March 31, 1978, (R. 468)).

At the reconsideration hearing held on May 22, 1978, Judge Wahlquist considered the affidavit of Guterrez's version of the incident. The court concluded that the affidavit was "absolutely inconsistent with the testimony given" by Kim Reed and also inconsistent with appellant's alibi defense (R. 479-480). Judge Wahlquist ruled:

"Insofar as the motion is concerned, considering the testimony that was given from the defense is inconsistent totally with this testimony now given, that it could not intelligently have presented both this testimony [admission of commission of a crime] and the defense which

he did present [alibi defense] which was defeated. In the total of the situation, I do not think this witness would have made a difference. For that reason, I will deny the motion for a new trial." (Emphasis added) (R. 478)

Appellant now claims that this ruling by Judge Wahlquist improperly denied him his right to a new trial. The statutory requirements for the granting of a new trial are set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 78-38-1 et seq. (1953, as amended). Section 78-38-3 outlines the grounds for new trials and subsection 7 deals precisely with the point raised on this appeal:

"When a verdict or decision has been rendered against the defendant the court may, upon his application, grant a new trial in the following cases only:

* * *

(7) When new evidence has been discovered, material to the defendant and which he could not with reasonable diligence have discovered and produced at the trial." (Emphasis added).

Thus, if the newly discovered evidence is not material to the defendant or it can be shown that the defendant did not make reasonable efforts to discover the evidence before trial, then the new trial will not be granted. While this latter requirement was questioned by the state at the rehearing (R. 475-476), respondent will assume, arguendo,

that appellant did use reasonable diligence in attempting to locate Guterrez before trial. However, the former requirement was the gist of Judge Wahlquist's ruling; that is, appellant did not show by the Guterrez affidavit that the evidence was "material to the defendant."

Appellant notes in his brief that "for some unknown reason" the affidavit of Guterrez is not included in the present case's record, but is included in the record of the previous appeal. Respondent is unable to locate the alleged affidavit to refer this court to in either court records. But assuming, arguendo, that it does exist somewhere, Judge Wahlquist's rulings are most persuasive. The appellant advanced two alternative defenses at trial: (1) an alibi defense; and (2) that the committed crime was not a robbery, but merely a till tap (class B theft). Thus, the Guterrez affidavit accomplishes two results. First, it completely undermines the alibi defense alternative since the affidavit admits that Guterrez and appellant were both at the By-Rite gas station on the night in question and at the incriminating time. (The alibi defense was also discredited by appellant himself when he took the stand and admitted being at the By-Rite station and participating in a crime that night (Tr. 279-292)).

The affidavit also results in nothing more than a cumulative restatement of appellant's testimony at trial. Appellant admits this in his brief where he states:

" . . . the testimony of LeRoy Guiterrez is completely supportive of the appellant's testimony given in his defense at the time of trial." (Appellant's brief, p. 6).

Appellant's admission that the affidavit is only "supportive of appellant's testimony" is an admission that the evidence is merely cumulative which was precisely the issue dealt with in the case of State v. Jiron, 27 Utah 2d 21, 492 P. 2d 983 (1972). In Jiron, defendant was convicted of robbery and he appealed claiming, inter alia, that he should be granted a new trial. Defendant based this claim on the fact that his wife was in Colorado at the time of his trial and therefore could not testify as to his whereabouts on the night in question. After trial, defendant's wife swore out an affidavit and testified to basically the same story defendant had given at trial. In upholding the trial court's denial of a new trial on defendant's claim of newly discovered evidence, this court ruled:

"The wife's testimony is merely cumulative to defendant's; . . . Finally, the facts recited in the affidavit are not of the type that would indicate the probability of a different result upon the retrial of the case. From the foregoing there is insufficient basis upon which to predicate a determination that the trial court abused its discretion." 492 P. 2d at 985.

Thus, where "new" evidence is only cumulative in its effect, the matter is left to the judgment of the trial court to determine whether a new trial should be granted. Also where, in that judgment, it appears that a new trial would result in the same verdict, a new trial motion may properly be denied.

This principle was also advanced by the Utah Court in State v. Molitz, 40 Utah 443, 122 P. 86 (1912), and State v. Weaver, 78 Utah 555, 6 P. 2d 167 (1931). The Molitz case held that it was proper to deny a motion for a new trial where defendant's newly discovered evidence was only cumulative.

In the present case, Judge Wahlquist's determination that Guiterrez's affidavit was merely a further corroboration of appellant's own testimony given at trial triggers the application of the Jiron and Molitz cases. As above noted, these two cases would affirm the denied new trial motion on the basis of Guiterrez's affidavit being "merely cumulative."

Another principle which trial courts must resolve is whether the newly discovered evidence would result in a different outcome at trial. Several Utah cases hold that a new trial can only be granted where such a probability of a different result is likely.

In Jensen v. Logan City, 89 Utah 347, 57 P. 2d 708 (1936), the court ruled:

"It is only under very special circumstances . . . that new trials are granted to allow the defeated party to add cumulative evidence, newly discovered, and then only where there is a clear probability that the result of a new trial will be different." (Emphasis added.) 57 P. 2d at 723.

In accord, State v. Montgomery, 37 Utah 515, 109 P. 815 (1910); State v. Cooper, 114 Utah 531, 201 P. 2d 764 (1949); State v. Harris, 30 Utah 2d 77, 513 P. 2d 438 (1973); and State v. Jiron, supra.

This is precisely the basis of Judge Wahlquist's ruling. He forcefully determined that "[i]n the total of the situation, I do not think this witness [Guiterrez] would have made a difference." (R. 478). In other words, even had Guiterrez testified at trial, Judge Wahlquist, who presided at both the trial and the rehearing of the motion, determined that there was no likelihood that "the result of a new trial will be different." Id.

One final consideration of the granting of new trials needs to be dealt with here. The reviewing court will only reverse a lower court's ruling if an abuse of trial court discretion is shown. State v. Harris, supra, is dispositive on this point. In considering defendant's appeal from a denied motion for a new trial in Harris, this court ruled:

"It is a matter solely within the discretion of the trial court as to whether it should grant a new trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence. This court cannot substitute its discretion for that of the trial court, whose ruling will be sustained, unless it is clearly indicated that it abused or failed to exercise its discretion. The denial of such a motion will be deemed an abuse of discretion only in such instances where there is a grave suspicion that justice may have been miscarried because of the lack of enlightenment on a vital point, which the new evidence will supply If there be evidence before the court upon which reasonable men might differ as to whether or not the defendant is guilty, the trial court may deny a motion for a new trial."
513 P. 2d at 439-440. (Emphasis added)

This legal principle regarding trial court discretion in the granting of new trials is soundly imbedded in Utah case law and has been cited by this Court on numerous occasions. (Jensen v. Logan City, *supra*; Moser v. Zion's Co-op. Merchantile Inst., 114 Utah 58, 197 P. 2d 136 (1948); State v. Cooper, *supra*; Johnson v. Doctorman, 23 Utah 2d 214, 462 P. 2d 169 (1969); State v. Jiron, *supra*; Lee v. Howes, 548 P. 2d 619 (Utah, 1976); Smith v. Shreeve, 551 P. 2d 1261 (Utah, 1976).)

Thus, appellant's claim that he was improperly denied a new trial only has merit if he can show that Judge Wahlquist abused his discretion. This appellant has not done except to assert such abuse. On the contrary, a careful review of the record reveals a very thoughtful and fair treatment of appellant's claim of newly discovered evidence. After

examination of such and when viewed in the context of the entire case, Judge Wahlquist correctly determined that the Guterrez's affidavit was only cumulative, would not have resulted in a different jury verdict and in so concluding he did not abuse his discretion. This conclusion is a proper application of U.C.A. § 78-38-3 which, as above noted, restricts the granting of a new trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence, to such evidence which is "material to the defense."

Respondent asserts that Judge Wahlquist's ruling was proper in light of the above and submits that appellant's request for a new trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence is not justified by the facts of the case.

POINT II.

A JURY'S VERDICT MUST NOT BE
DISTURBED ON APPEAL MERELY
BECAUSE IT IS BASED ON UN-
CORROBORATED TESTIMONY OF THE
VICTIM, UNLESS SUCH TESTIMONY
IS COMPLETELY UNBELIEVEABLE.

It is a well settled axiom of criminal law in this state that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses. (State v. Sullivan, 6 Utah 2d 110, 307 P. 2d 212 (1957)); State v. Estrada, 119 Utah 339, 227 P. 2d 247 (1951); State v. Moore, 111 Utah 458, 183 P. 2d 973 (1947); State v. Mills, 530 P. 2d 1272 (Utah, 1975); State v. Romero.

554 P. 2d 216 (Utah, 1976)); and State v. Wilson, 565 P. 2d 66 (Utah, 1977)).

The more narrow question here involves the credibility of the victim of the crime, Kim Reed, who gave uncorroborated testimony at trial of the events of the robbery (Tr. 1-75). Appellant cites the recent case of State v. Middelstadt, 579 P. 2d 908 (Utah, 1978), which sets out the basis on which a reviewing court must deal with uncorroborated evidence.

"In general, the common-law supports the contention that a conviction may be sustained upon the uncorroborated testimony of the victim, and that such evidence is not insubstantial simply because the testimony is conflicting in some respects. As to the quality of the testimony given, it is settled that it must be so improbable that it is completely unbelievable before it is insufficient to uphold a conviction. We do not find that to be the case here." (Emphasis added.) 579 P. 2d at 911.

Appellant claims that Reed's testimony of appellant robbing him with two customers present should be categorized in the "so improbable that it is completely unbelievable" category. Appellant notes that the customers were not asked by Reed to tell police what they saw, that, in fact, the customers did not even notice a gunman walking away from the gas station office, and that Reed continued to wait on customers calmly without asking for their assistance. This is a mistaken reading of the trial transcript by appellant.

Reed did testify that he asked one customer if he saw anything, and the customer answered he only "saw a gentleman up there, but that was it" (Tr. 26). Reed also testified that it would have been very difficult for the customers to have seen the gun in the man's hand since it was dusk at about 7:45 p.m. and the gas station lights were on (Tr. 5, 12), the office windows are at about "chest level" (Tr. 180), the bottom half are painted over and the top half has lettering painted on them (Tr. 35), and the two customers were 50 to 60 feet away (Tr. 62), getting gas at the pumps furthest from the office (Tr. 26).

As to his waiting on customers after the event without requesting their aid, Reed had already asked one customer if he saw anything suspicious and was told he had not (Tr. 26). Respondent submits that Reed's behavior, therefore, was not unusual--after being told by the customer that hadn't seen anything peculiar, he continued to wait on customers until the police arrived (Tr. 26).

No where in the record does any witness testify that appellant backed out of the office with gun in hand, as noted in appellant's brief (p. 19). Reed testified that after the robber took the money, the robber commanded him to walk over to the car wash area and they both left the office together (Tr. 10, 25).

Respondent submits that Reed's testimony is not "completely unbelievable," as witnessed by the jury's 46 minute deliberation after a three-day trial and verdict of guilty (R. 38).

In State v. Romero, supra, the Utah court ruled, with regard to a reviewing court's weighing the evidence, that:

"This court has long upheld the standard that on an appeal from conviction the court cannot weigh the evidence. . . . Further, this court has maintained that its function is not to determine guilt or innocence, the weight to give conflicting evidence, the credibility of witnesses, or the weight to be given defendant's testimony. . . . 'We are concerned only with the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the convictions by showing that the jury would have found beyond a reasonable doubt that defendants were guilty.'" 554 P. 2d at 218.

This jury role was also echoed in State v. Mills, supra, where this court said:

"It is the prerogative of the jury to judge the weight of the evidence, the credibility of witnesses, and the facts to be found therefrom." 530 P. 2d at 1272

And as to the specific evidentiary matter of uncorroborated testimony, State v. Middlestadt, holds:

" . . . there is no rule governing how many witnesses are needed or that the testimony need be corroborated by

other evidence before the trier of fact can decide how to determine the weight of the testimony." 579 P. 2d at 911.

Appellant attempts to discredit the victim Reed's testimony by distorting the record and claims that the "only believable portion of Reed's testimony is that portion found on page 142 of the record . . ." (p. 19). Respondent would only point out that the testimony on page 142 of the record (Tr. 58) is an out of context statement made in response to the leading questions of defense counsel during cross-examination. The actual exchange is quoted below:

[Mr. Farr] Q. You came back, found the cash box was open, and so you called the police and reported it, told them that the person that had taken it had a gun?

[Mr. Reed] A. Right.

* * *

Q. So you told them about the gun and you remembered Freddy Conrad because he had just been in there, and you later then identified him as the person with the gun?

A. As I stated, it didn't happen that way." (Tr. 58; R. 142)

Thus, where appellant cites to page 142 of the record as the only portion of the trial where Reed was believable, respondent answers that defense counsel, in an attempt to confuse and have Reed contradict his earlier story,

offered defendant's version of the incident in question form. Reed answered "Right" to the portion of the question dealing with the gun being used, but then one question later, refuses to go along with defense counsel's leading questions and re-asserts his earlier position. This is hardly an admission that defendant's story was at that point adopted by Reed or that Reed was only believable when he replied "right" to a multi-faceted, leading question.

Respondent contends that the above authority, when applied to an accurate reading of the trial record, leads to only one conclusion: the uncorroborated testimony of Kim Reed was sufficient, substantial and believable. The jury was, therefore, within its prerogative when it determined appellant's guilt.

CONCLUSION

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